# RECEIVED

03-30-2015

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP002653-CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LARRY J. SMITH,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in Walworth County, the Honorable David M. Reddy, Presiding

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > MARTHA K. ASKINS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1008032 (608) 267-2879 askinsm@opd.wi.gov

> > SARA K. BRELIE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079775 (608) 267-1770 brelies@opd.wi.gov

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Was Larry Smith deprived of the effective assistance of counsel, warranting a new trial, when trial counsel elicited testimony that the lead investigator believed the complainant, V.M.H., was telling the truth, and failed to elicit testimony that this investigator knew V.M.H. prior to the investigation?

The trial court answered: No.

2. Was Social Worker Paula Hocking's testimony about behaviors of child sexual assault victims admissible under *Daubert*?

The trial court answered: Yes.

3. Is a new trial in the interest of justice warranted?

The trial court answered: No.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Smith would welcome oral argument if it would be helpful to the court. Smith also requests publication in light of the second issue presented, which is the admissibility of the social worker's testimony in light of **Daubert**.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal from a judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief entered in Walworth County, the Honorable David M. Reddy, presiding. The state charged Larry J. Smith with the repeated sexual assault of a child, and sexual assault of a child, in a criminal complaint filed on June 7, 2011. (10). According to the criminal complaint, V.M.H. told police that Smith had been "molesting" her for a number of years. (10:2).

Before trial, the state gave notice it intended to call Paula Hocking as a witness at trial. According to the state, Hocking, a social worker, would testify that child victims of sexual assault often delay in their disclosure of assaults, and describe the range of behaviors that child sexual assault victims may demonstrate. (80:4-5; App. 126-27).

Smith objected to Hocking's testimony on two grounds. First, he argued that the state had not complied with the court's pretrial scheduling order because it had not provided a summary of Hocking's testimony. (80:17-18; App. 121-22). Second, Smith argued Hocking's testimony would not qualify under the *Daubert* standard.<sup>1</sup> (80:18; App. 122).

The court held two hearings on the issue of Hocking's testimony and its admissibility. (80; 81). Hocking did not appear at either hearing, nor did the state offer a report of her testimony. The state offered this explanation of Hocking's expected testimony:

Ms. Hocking will testify regarding reactive behaviors common among child abuse victims. These matters include, but are not limited to child development, use of language, recantation, delayed disclosure, progressive disclosure, disclosure to a trusted person, recall, and minimization by the victim. Ms. Hocking will testify

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993).

about reasons for these reactive behaviors based on her training and experience.

(28:8-9).

Judge Reddy ruled that Hocking could testify, and concluded her testimony was admissible under *Daubert*.

...[I]t's clear to me that she's not developed these opinions simply to testify in this case. That this is an area that has been developed over the years. And she's not testifying about this case at all, even it's about the general area of—not the general area. Let me use different terminology. I'd say, the field of delayed disclosure, progressive disclosure, and disclosure to trusted persons. It's, again, definitely also an area that has been recognized by our appellate courts pre-*Daubert*, but by the federal courts, post *Daubert*.

So I believe that the proposed testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods based upon its general acceptance. And that based upon the proposed testimony of the witness, will apply the principles and methods reliably to what is at issue in this case or the facts in this case.

(81:25; App. 147).

The case proceeded to jury trial, and the jury convicted Smith of two counts of repeated sexual assault of a child, and one count of second degree sexual assault of a child. (41, 42, 43).

Smith subsequently filed a motion for postconviction relief, seeking a new trial based on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, or in the interest of justice. (63). Smith argued he was deprived of the effective assistance of counsel relating to counsel's handling of a key state's witness, Investigator Lori Domino. (63:2-11).

Judge Reddy held a hearing on the motion at which trial counsel testified. Judge Reddy denied Smith's postconviction motion, and Smith filed a timely notice of appeal. (67, 68).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The state charged Larry J. Smith with the sexual assault of V.M.H. V.M.H.'s parents are divorced. (84:74). V.M.H., who was 16-years-old at the time of trial, lived with her mother, Jennifer, a sister and a brother, and her mother's boyfriend, Larry Smith. (*Id.*). V.M.H.'s father, Scott, lived with his wife, Camille, and Camille's daughter, Erica.

### <u>The Trial</u>

V.M.H. testified that Smith moved in with her mother when V.M.H. was 11-years-old. (84:75). She testified that Smith repeatedly sexually assaulted her for years, until May of 2011, when she disclosed the alleged assaults to her stepsister, Erica. The two girls reported the information to Camille, V.M.H.'s stepmother, leading to police investigation and the charges against Smith.

A family argument about V.M.H.'s boyfriend immediately preceded V.M.H.'s statement to Erica that Smith was assaulting her. At that time, V.M.H. was dating a 17-year-old boy, John. (84:116). V.M.H.'s parents disapproved of the relationship, and forbade her from seeing John. (84:117). Despite the disapproval, V.M.H. continued to date John, and on May 27, 2011, either Smith or Jennifer confronted V.M.H. about the boy. (84:118). They also contacted V.M.H.'s father, Scott. Scott, Larry, and Jennifer argued with V.M.H. (84:119). V.M.H. testified they were all upset with her, and that she was very upset and crying. (*Id.*). Scott called John's mother and warned her to keep John away from V.M.H. Erica testified the adults threatened to call the police if V.M.H. did not stop seeing John, and that John would be charged with a crime. (84:171). After this argument, V.M.H. told Erica that Smith had been sexually assaulting her. (84:171-72).

Before trial, the state advised it intended to call Paula Hocking as a witness to testify about characteristics of child victims of sexual assault. Hocking had no personal knowledge of V.M.H. Rather, her testimony was offered to explain a child victim's reactive behaviors. Trial counsel, Jenelle Glasbrenner, objected, citing **Daubert**. The trial court ruled that Hocking's testimony was admissible.

Hocking works as the "child advocacy manager and forensic interviewer" for the Children's Hospital of Milwaukee. She testified she had interviewed "over a thousand children" who were alleged to have been physically abused, sexually abused, or neglected. (84:199; 201). Hocking has a bachelor's degree in social work, and testified she has received extensive training in the area of child abuse. (84:202). On direct examination, the state asked Hocking if she had seen "common themes or common threads in children that have been abused and neglected." (84:203). Hocking agreed that she had seen such "common threads." (84:203). For example, she testified:

Um, well, there's certain behaviors that we see in victims. You know, I can talk about delayed disclosure.

It's very common for children not to talk about the abuse right away. Sometimes it takes days, sometimes weeks, months, sometimes years. It's very common that sometimes people don't disclose until they're adults. That is a characteristic that I've seen often in working with victims. (84:203-04).

Hocking testified that the "best education" she had received in learning about the "reactive behaviors" of child victims was working with victims for over 24 years, and "watching how they disclose." (84:204). She testified it is rare for children to disclose immediately, that often children will tell a close friend and tell the friend not to tell anyone else. (84:205). She testified it is common for children to tell a family member, or somebody the child is close to. (84:206).

Hocking testified a "triggering event" can be the final straw in causing a child to disclose abuse, and that an argument can be such a triggering event. (84:207-08).

The state also called Lori Domino as a witness. Domino, an investigator with the Bloomfield Police Department, interviewed V.M.H. within days of V.M.H.'s accusation of Smith. (84:240). In her trial testimony, Domino described her interview this way:

> [V.M.H.] was very distant, um, appeared upset. Based on her nervousness, when she started speaking, there was a sense of like a weight starting to be lifted; and you can just sense that when you start talking to a victim; when they start disclosing what's been happening to them, you can just see this arua around them just lifting that they're able to tell me what happened to them. And that's what happened with [V.M.H.].

#### (84:240).

On cross-examination, trial counsel asked Domino about the "weight" lifting off of V.M.H.'s shoulders, and then asked Domino whether V.M.H. was telling the truth about the alleged assaults:

- Q: ...you testified under direct examination yesterday that you—it appeared that the weight of the world was being lifted off of her; is that correct?
- A: Yes.
- Q: You don't know whether she's telling the truth or not, do you?
- A: I know she's telling the truth.
- Q: You know she's telling the truth?
- A: Yes.
- Q: You were there that night?
- A: I was not there.
- Q: You were there each and every Tuesday night she alleges this happened?
- A: No.
- Q: Then how could you be so sure that she's telling the truth?
- A: Based on the statements she gave me.
- Q: Okay, so if I told you I broke my leg but you can't see my feet, does that mean I broke my leg?
- A: Based on how you direct it at me and how you tell me, yes, I will base it on if it's the truth or a lie.
- Q: So you can read someone's mind?
- A: I can't read their mind.
- Q: Have you ever applied to the FBI?
- A: I have gone through their schooling.

- Q: But have you ever applied for the FBI?
- A: No.
- Q: So you're sitting here today saying: I know she's telling the truth?
- A: Yes.
- Q: And what is that based on? What she's told you?
- A: Based on what she's told me.
- . . . . .
- Q: That's because you're going to blanketly believe everything that a child victim says?
- A: No.
- Q: Well, you did in this case, correct?
- A: Because she was telling me the truth.
- Q: And how do you know she was telling you the truth?
- A: Based on how she was telling me.
- Q: And how was she telling you?
- A: The first words out of her mouth was that she said "Larry was molesting me."

(85:23-25).

Neither the state nor defense counsel played the videotape of Domino's interview with V.M.H. for the jury.

The jury convicted Smith of all charges.

### **Postconviction**

Smith filed a motion for postconviction relief pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(h), seeking a new trial based on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, or in the interest of The motion alleged that trial counsel was justice. (63). ineffective when elicited she testimony from Investigator Domino that Domino believed V.M.H. was telling the truth, failed to elicit testimony that Domino had known V.M.H. for years before investigating this case, failed to make a copy of the Domino interview for trial preparation and impeachment, failed to play the Domino interview of V.M.H. for the jury, and failed to impeach Domino on her use of the Stepwise protocol in interviewing V.M.H. (63).

Judge Reddy held a hearing on the postconviction motion, at which Attorney Glasbrenner testified about her handling of Lori Domino's interview of V.M.H. (88). Glasbrenner's testimony fell into four main categories. She testified that she did not get the Domino interview transcribed, nor did she obtain a copy of the interview to prepare for and use at trial. (88:7). She testified she did not think it would be useful to present evidence that Lori Domino had known V.M.H. for some six years before the interview. Counsel testified that officers in small (88:9-11). communities often have close relationships with families in their communities, so she did not believe that was a fact the jury needed to hear. (88:9-10). Trial counsel testified she considered and rejected the idea of playing the recorded interview for the jury. (88:13-14). And, she testified why she chose to ask Lori Domino the questions about believing V.M.H. (88:16-17). Counsel testified she wanted to show that Domino "just blanketly believed" what V.M.H. said. (88:16).

Judge Reddy denied Smith's postconviction motion. The court rejected Smith's argument that the jury should have seen the video of Domino's interview, reasoning that the video shows minimal detail. (88:49; App. 101). Further, the court noted that trial counsel testified she had a strategy in not playing the video. (88:50; App. 102).

The court rejected Smith's argument that the jury should have been made aware that Domino and V.M.H. knew each other, stating that information was of limited value. (*Id.*).

The court also rejected Smith's claim that trial counsel performed deficiently in her cross-examination when she elicited testimony that Domino believed V.M.H. was telling the truth. The court stated counsel had a strategic reason for this line of questioning, which was to show that Domino "blanketly" believed everything V.M.H. said. (88:51; App. 103). The court also rejected the idea that trial counsel needed to have a transcript of the Domino interview, or a copy of the interview recording, to use in preparing for trial. (88:52; App. 104).

Finally, the court concluded that even if trial counsel had performed deficiently, the evidence was sufficiently strong that it would not have made any difference. (88:53; App. 105). The court thus denied the motion on both the ineffective assistance of counsel ground, and also in the interest of justice. (*Id.*).

Smith now appeals.

### ARGUMENT

I. Larry Smith Was Deprived of the Effective Assistance of Counsel, Warranting a New Trial, When Trial Counsel Elicited Testimony That the Lead Investigator Believed V.M.H. was Telling the Truth, and Failed to Elicit Testimony That This Investigator Knew V.M.H. Prior to the Investigation.

Larry Smith was deprived of a fair trial because his trial attorney elicited evidence from the chief state's investigator, Lori Domino, that Domino was certain V.M.H. was telling the truth about being assaulted by Smith. After Domino testified on direct examination that she was experienced in determining a person's truthfulness, trial counsel then elicited testimony from Domino that V.M.H. was telling the truth. In addition, counsel failed to elicit testimony that Domino had known V.M.H. for several years before this interview. In order to assess both the testimony of Domino and V.M.H., the jury needed to know that the two had been acquainted for years. Where, as here, the credibility of the defendant and the complainant are critical, trial counsel's eliciting of testimony that Domino was certain V.M.H. was telling the truth, and counsel's failure to elicit testimony that Domino and V.M.H. had known each other for years, constituted deficient performance that prejudiced Smith  $^2$ 

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  In his postconviction motion, Smith argued that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to play the interview video for the jury, and also for failing to impeach Domino on her use of the Stepwise protocol. Smith does not pursue those claims on appeal.

"Criminal defendants are guaranteed the right to effective counsel bv the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions." State v. Jenkins, 2014 WI 59, ¶34, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 786. In assessing whether trial counsel's performance satisfied this constitutional standard, Wisconsin courts apply the two-part test outlined in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 633, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985). In order to establish that he was denied effective representation, Smith must demonstrate both that counsel's performance was deficient and that counsel's errors or omissions were prejudicial to his defense. Id. The "benchmark" for assessing counsel's conduct is "whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Jenkins, 355 Wis. 2d at 194, ¶34. Whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial are questions of law subject to independent review. Pitsch, 124 Wis. 2d at 634.

Effective counsel must be a "prudent lawyer" who is "skilled and versed in the criminal law." *State v. Felton*, 110 Wis. 2d 485, 502, 329 N.W.2d 161 (1983) An attorney's level of experience is not the criterion for determining whether counsel was effective in a particular case. *Id.* at 499. When the court examines counsel's conduct in a particular case, the court does not ratify it merely because the attorney had a trial strategy. *Id.* at 502. Rather, counsel's decisions "must be based upon facts and law upon which an ordinarily prudent lawyer would have then relied." *Id.* at 503. The court "will in fact second-guess a lawyer if the initial guess is one that demonstrates an irrational trial tactic or if it is based upon caprice rather than upon judgment." *Id.*  To establish prejudice, the defendant must show that, but for trial counsel's deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different. *State v. Roberson*, 2006 WI 80, ¶29, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 717 N.W.2d 111. "A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* However, the focus of the prejudice inquiry is not the outcome of the trial by itself, but rather, the reliability of the proceedings. *Id.* In this case, trial counsel performed deficiently, and that deficient performance prejudiced Larry Smith. Accordingly, Smith is entitled to a new trial.

The state's witnesses consisted of the complainant, V.M.H., and her stepsister and stepmother, a crime lab analyst, Officer Aaron Henson who assisted in the investigation, social worker Paula Hocking, and Investigator Lori Domino. After the allegations surfaced, Domino interviewed V.M.H.<sup>3</sup> On direct examination, Domino testified she has been a police officer for over 19 years, and was a member of the "Multi-jurisdictional Sexual Assault Task Force Team." (84:237-238). She testified she has training in interviewing children, as well as training in "deception and interrogation." (84:237). She explained she has specialized training in interviewing alleged sexual assault victims. (84:238-239).

Domino testified she arranged to interview V.M.H. the day after the allegation was made, and she described V.M.H.'s demeanor, as she perceived it, during the interview. (84:240). She testified that V.M.H. was distant, very upset and nervous at the outset of the interview, but that as she

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  That interview is in the record at 66 and 72, and was transcribed for purposes of postconviction proceedings. The transcript is reproduced in the appendix at 154-182.

continued to talk to Domino, a "weight" appeared to lift off of her. (84:240).

The next day, trial counsel cross-examined Domino. Counsel asked Domino about her training in interviewing child witnesses and victims. (85:17-18). Under counsel's questioning, Domino testified she had interviewed hundreds of children. (85:18). Counsel asked Domino why she did not ask V.M.H. in what bed she slept, eliciting testimony that Domino did not believe that information was important. Counsel asked: "You're just there to take what she says down and do nothing further, correct?" (85:20). Domino answered: "It depends how the interview is going." (85:21). Counsel then asked: "Okay, so truly, in this case, that's all you did, is you wrote down what she said, audio recorded what she said too, correct?" (85:21). Domino answered "Yes." (85:21). Counsel suggested Domino had done no further investigation, prompting Domino to explain that she had taken the sheets off of V.M.H.'s bed for analysis, cushion covers off of the couch for analysis, and interviewed Erica, V.M.H.'s stepsister, and the person to whom V.M.H. disclosed the allegations. (85:21).

Counsel then asked Domino whether she interviewed V.M.H.'s sister with whom she shared a bedroom and bunkbed, and elicited testimony that Domino believed V.M.H. was telling the truth:

- Q: So you didn't think it was important to ask which bed she slept on?
- A: No.
- Q: So you weren't there to verify whether she was telling you the truth or not; you were just there to collect what she was telling you?

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