RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-30-2015

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT II

C N COLLADORE CD

Case No. 2014AP2653-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LARRY J. SMITH,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DAVID M. REDDY, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Next, by finding the testimony about these behaviors relevant, based in part on Glasbrenner's concession, the court implicitly determined the testimony addressed a subject matter that could assist the factfinder (81:3-4). Wisconsin courts reached the same conclusion about testimony like Hocking's under the earlier version of Wis. Stat. § 907.02, which admitted expert testimony if it "assists the trier of fact in understanding the evidence or a fact at issue." See e.g. State v. Robinson, 146 Wis. 2d 315, 332-35,

431 N.W.2d 165 (1988); *State v. Haseltine*, 120 Wis. 2d 92, 96-97, 352 N.W.2d 673 (Ct. App. 1984).

Further, the court determined that Hocking's testimony was reliable by recognizing that it was in "an area that has been developed over the years" and one that was recognized by Wisconsin courts before *Daubert* (81:25). *Robinson*, 146 Wis. 2d at 332-35; *Haseltine*, 120 Wis. 2d at 96-97.

Finally, Hocking's testimony fit the facts of the case because Glasbrenner said she intended to ask VH about the manner in which she disclosed (81:3-4). Hocking's testimony was thus relevant to explain why the behavior of sexual assault victims, such as delaying disclosure of the assaults, might not conform to commonly held expectations of how a victim reacts to a sexual assault and to rebut Smith's argument that VH was not credible because she did not act in accordance with those expectations. The circuit court's decision is consistent with Fed. R. Evid. 702's requirements for admitting expert testimony that does not purport to apply itself to the facts of the case.

Even if the *Daubert* analysis applies, though, this court must still affirm the circuit court's decision as a reasonable exercise of discretion under that standard. The court recognized the factors listed in *Daubert* for assessing the reliability of a proposed expert's testimony did not clearly apply to what the State wanted Hocking to say (81:12-13). Instead, relying on *Simmons*, the court determined that it needed to assess Hocking's reliability in a different way (81:12-13). *Simmons*, 470 F.3d at 1123. This was consistent with *Daubert*, which describes its standard as "flexible" and said that the factors were not a "definitive checklist." *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 593-94; *see also Khumo Tire*, 526 U.S. at 141 (*Daubert* factors "neither necessarily nor

exclusively appl[y] to all experts or in every case"). The court's decision also comports with the 2000 committee note to Fed. R. Evid. 702. The note emphasizes the flexibility of the standard and the need to apply different measures of reliability depending on the evidence at issue.

And the court properly applied the measures of reliability it determined were relevant. It appropriately found Hocking's testimony reliable, in part, based on her experience, training, education, and skill. Hocking had more than twenty years of experience as a social worker, and had interviewed 2,500 child sexual assault victims (84:202, 210). The court reasonably concluded that this would give her a basis for explaining various behaviors of those victims that she observed while they were disclosing assaults, even apart from the specific training she received on the behaviors (84:204).²

The circuit also properly found that Hocking's testimony was reliable because it involved an "area that has been developed over the years" and correctly noted that Wisconsin courts routinely admitted this type of evidence under the old version of Wis. Stat. § 907.02 (81:25). As noted, Wisconsin has long approved the [practice of providing juries with information about commonly-observed behaviors of child sexual assault victims to rebut defense arguments that the victim's behavior is inconsistent with having been assaulted. See State v. Rizzo, 2002 WI 20, ¶ 68, 250 Wis. 2d 407, 640 N.W.2d 93 (Sykes, J., concurring) (noting that admission of Robinson-type expert testimony has "become

² Although this information came out at trial rather than during the pretrial hearings at which the court decided to admit Hocking's testimony, this court must search the record for reasons to sustain a circuit court's discretionary decision. *State v. Manuel*, 2005 WI 75, ¶ 24, 281 Wis. 2d 554, 697 N.W.2d 811.

relatively routine in sexual assault cases"). Even though courts previously admitted this evidence under a different standard, their decades-long approval of it as an appropriate topic of expert testimony supports a conclusion that the reactive behaviors of child victims are established, documented, and accepted in the field of social work.

Finally, the circuit court appropriately relied on the fact that federal courts have admitted testimony about reactive behaviors under *Daubert* (81:25). The court specifically pointed to Simmons, but other federal courts have approved of this and similar evidence. See United States v. Smith, 1998 WL 136564 at 1-2 (6th Cir. 1998) (discussing rape trauma syndrome; cited in Simmons); *United States v. Bighead*, 128 F.3d 1329-30 (9th Cir. 1997) (approving of expert testimony about "delayed disclosure" and "script memory" in child sexual abuse victims based on expert's years of experience in interviewing many victims of such abuse); United States v. Alzanki, 54 F.3d 994, 1006 (1st Cir. 1995) (expert's testimony based on her research and interaction with non-sexual abuse victims properly admitted to establish that victim's behavior was consistent with those of abuse victims in general; also cited in Simmons). The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it admitted Hocking's testimony.³

³ Testimony like Hocking's is also allowed in most states. *See State v. J.Q.*, 599 A.2d 172, 183 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1991) (stating that testimony about Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome has received "nearly universal judicial approval" and listing cases); *People v. Spicola*, 947 N.E.2d 620, 635 (N.Y. 2011) (noting that a majority of states permit expert testimony to explain delayed reporting, recantation, and inconsistency, citing 1 Myers on Evidence § 6.24 at 416-422, which notes that Kentucky, Pennsylvania, and Tennessee are only apparent exceptions). And some courts have admitted this evidence under *Daubert. See State v. Foret*, 628 So.2d 1116, 1125 (La. 2003) (permitting CSAAS evidence to explain victim behavior under *Daubert*,

3. None of Smith's arguments demonstrate that the circuit court erroneously admitted Hocking's testimony.

Smith makes several arguments to support his claim that the circuit court erred by allowing Hocking to testify. This court should reject all of them.

Smith contends that the court erred because it did not find that Hocking's testimony satisfied any *Daubert* factors (Smith's brief at 25-31). Although he acknowledges that the list of factors is not meant to be exhaustive, Smith claims that the court erred because, when the court decided to admit Hocking's testimony, the State had not shown that the testimony satisfied any of the factors (Smith's brief at 26-29).

This court should reject these arguments for reasons that the State has already stated. To reiterate them briefly, *Daubert* is meant to be a flexible standard. The list of factors in *Daubert* for assessing scientific evidence does not neatly apply to all types of expert testimony, particularly testimony like Hocking's that is based largely on experience. Therefore,

but not as proof victim was abused); *State v. Edelman*, 593 N.W.2d 419, ¶¶ 12-18 (S.D. 1999). But, regardless of the admissibility standard, the widespread acceptance of such testimony supports a finding that it is based on established and accepted principles in the field of social work.

In addition, states that have changed their expert admissibility standards to *Daubert* have concluded that this did not affect the admissibility of this testimony. *See Bourdon v. State*, 2002 WL 31761482 at 6-8 (Alaska Ct. App. 2002) (stating that Alaska's adaptation of *Daubert* would not "lead to dramatically different results" in admission of expert testimony about children's accusations of sexual assault); *State v. Salazar-Mercado*, 325 P.3d 996, 1000-1001 (Ariz. 2014) (declining to reconsider Arizona's past acceptance of testimony about CSAAS after State adopted *Daubert* standard); *State v. Kinney*, 762 A.2d 833, 840-42 (Vt. 2000).

that some, or even all, of the factors have not been met is not determinative. The flexibility of *Daubert* allows courts to apply measures of reliability that are specific to the evidence at issue. And here, the court properly relied on Hocking's education, training, and experience, as well as the widespread acceptance of testimony like she was going to give, in deciding to allow the State to present her as an expert witness. Further, this court must review the circuit court's decision in light of the entire record. *Manuel*, 281 Wis. 2d 554, ¶ 24. It is not limited to considering the arguments made at the hearings on whether to admit Hocking's testimony and the record as it existed at that time.

Smith also criticizes the court's reliance on *Simmons*, (Smith's brief at 26-29). He contends the court erred because it admitted Hocking's testimony based solely on the finding in *Simmons* that the expert in that case was reliable (Smith's brief at 27-28). Smith further argues that in *Simmons*, the expert testimony at issue involved "rapevictim behavior" not child sexual assault victim behavior, so it was not even correct for the circuit court to say that federal courts had recognized the admission of testimony like Hocking's (Smith's brief at 28).

This argument misrepresents the circuit court's reliance on *Simmons*. While the court did note that it was relying on the similarities in this case and *Simmons* to support its decision, it did not admit Hocking's testimony simply for that reason. Instead, the court found the discussion in *Simmons* of how to apply *Daubert* to "soft . . . social sciences, particularly in areas involving sexual . . . victimization" helpful to its decision (81:12). It was hardly erroneous for the court to look for guidance from a federal court decision addressing a similar situation, particularly when, as the court noted, there was little guidance from

Wisconsin courts on how to apply *Daubert* (81:20). And whatever the differences between the testimony here and in *Simmons*, the circuit court was ultimately right that federal courts have approved testimony like Hocking's. *Bighead*, 128 F.3d at 1330.

Smith also argues that the court's reliance on *Simmons* was error because science can change over time, and simply because a court found something reliable in 2006 does not mean it was reliable in 2012, when the court admitted Hocking's testimony (81; Smith's brief at 29-30). Smith is right that science can change, but he makes no attempt to show that any of the information or principles underlying Hocking's testimony have changed in recent years.

Next, Smith suggests that this court follow *Newkirk v. Commonwealth*, 937 S.W.2d 690 (Ky. 1996), in which the Kentucky Supreme Court held that testimony about the behaviors of child sexual abuse victims was inadmissible under *Daubert* (Smith's brief at 30-31). This court should not do so. Most jurisdictions allow testimony explaining the behaviors of child sexual assault victims when used to rebut defense arguments that those behaviors make the victim's accusation not credible. *See People v. Spicola*, 947 N.E.2d 620, 635 (N.Y. 2011); John E.B. Myers, Myers on Evidence of Interpersonal Violence at 538-540, § 6.20 (5th ed. 2011). And, as argued, Wisconsin has long approved of this testimony.

Smith argues that, despite Wisconsin's endorsement of this type of expert evidence, the amendment of Wis. Stat. § 907.02 means that "more must be required than that such behavioral testimony has been previously allowed" (Smith's brief at 32-33). Citing several secondary sources, he claims that testimony about the behaviors of child sexual assault

victims is controversial, and because it is meant for treatment, it is not reliable for court proceedings under *Daubert* (Smith's brief at 32-33).

None of this shows that the trial court erred. Smith is essentially restating his argument that admitting Hocking's testimony was a mistake because it did not fit any of the Daubert factors (Smith's brief at 33). Further, Smith did not present the circuit court with any of these sources, so it is hard to see how they prove that it erroneously exercised its discretion (28; 30; 32; 80; 81). Finally, that testimony about the behaviors of child sexual abuse victims is controversial or meant to be used in treatment only does not make it unreliable under Daubert. "The trial court's role as gatekeeper is not intended to serve as a replacement for the adversary system." Fed. R. Evid. 702 advisory committee's note (2000), quoting United States v. 14.38 Acres of Land Situated in Leflore County, Mississippi, 80 F.3d 1074, 1078 (5th Cir. 1996). "As the Court in Daubert stated: Vigorous cross-examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence." Fed. R. Evid. 702 advisory committee's note (2000), quoting Daubert, 509 U.S. at 595. That there might be some criticism of this type of testimony does not mean it was inadmissible.

Smith next contends that Hocking did not have the necessary experience or knowledge to testify about reactive behaviors (Smith's brief at 34-36). He claims that in order for an expert to testify based on her experience, the expert must specifically explain how that experience supports the conclusion reached, and claims Hocking did not do this (Smith's brief at 35-36).

The circuit court properly found Hocking to be qualified based on her experience, knowledge, and training. Hocking gave general testimony about behaviors she has observed when interviewing 2,500 child victims of sexual abuse over more than twenty years. Given this, her experience would necessarily be the primary means of assessing reliability, and it was not error for the court to rely on it. Further, Hocking did not reach any conclusions within the meaning of *Daubert* because she only gave general testimony. She did not testify that VH's behaviors were consistent with those she had observed. Hocking could not explain a conclusion she did not reach.

Finally, Smith argues that Hocking's testimony crossed the line into vouching for VH's credibility because the court limited what she could say to the specific behaviors VH displayed (Smith's brief at 36-40). This, he claims, essentially allowed Hocking to give a profile of a sexual assault victim that matched VH (Smith's brief at 37). He also complains that Hocking testified that it is rare that children lie about being victims of sexual assault (Smith's brief at 39-40).

This court should not address these arguments. Smith forfeited them by not objecting either at the motion hearing when the court limited Hocking's testimony or to the written order summarizing its decision (35; 81:30-31). State v. Torkelson, 2007 WI App 272, ¶ 25, 306 Wis. 2d 673, 743 N.W.2d 511 (failure to object when alleged error occurs forfeiture of right to amounts raise appeal). Smith also never objected to any of Hocking's testimony that he alleges created a profile of VH or her testimony that victims rarely lie (84:206-09, 218). A specific, contemporaneous objection in the circuit court is required to preserve a claim that the court improperly admitted testimony. See State v. Delgado, 2002 WI App 38, ¶¶ 11-12,

250 Wis. 2d 689, 641 N.W.2d 490. And Smith does not acknowledge that Hocking's testimony that it was rare for victims to lie was elicited by the State in response to his own questioning of Hocking on the topic (84:209-212, 215-16, 18). He should not be permitted to complain on appeal about testimony he opened the door to at trial.

C. If the court erred in admitting Hocking's testimony, it was harmless error.

Finally, even if this court determines that the circuit court violated Wis. Stat. § 907.02 in admitting Hocking's testimony, it should hold that this error was harmless.

An error is harmless if the beneficiary of the error proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict obtained. *See State v. Harris*, 2008 WI 15, ¶ 42, 307 Wis. 2d 555, 745 N.W.2d 397. Alternatively stated, an error is harmless if it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error. *See id*. ¶ 43.

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